Case No. S227106

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 26 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION FOUNDATION OF
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA and ELECTRONIC FRONTIER
FOUNDATION,

Deputy

Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, and the
LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and the CITY
OF LOS ANGELES, and the LOS ANGELES POLICE DEPARTMENT,
Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. B259392
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BS143004
(Hon. James C. Chalfant)

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Do data collected by police using “automated license plate readers”—high-speed cameras that automatically scan and record the license plate numbers and time, date and location of every passing vehicle without suspicion of criminal activity—constitute law enforcement “records of . . . investigations” that are permanently exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act pursuant to Government Code § 6254(f)?

2. Does Proposition 59—the 2004 amendment to the California Constitution requiring “[a] statute, court rule, or other authority . . . be broadly construed if it furthers the people's right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access”—require agencies and courts to take a narrow approach when applying the records of investigations exemption under Government Code § 6254(f)?¹

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Amid growing concern over the government’s use of surveillance technology to collect massive amounts of data on the lives of ordinary Americans, Petitioners sent requests under the Public Records Act (PRA), Gov’t Code §§ 6250 *et seq.*,² to the Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) and the Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department (LASD), agencies of Real Parties in Interest City and County of Los Angeles (City and County respectively), seeking information on one such technology: Automated License Plate Readers (ALPRs).

¹ See Pet. For Review (filed June 15, 2015). Neither Respondents’ Answer nor this Court’s order granting review presented revised or alternative issues for review. Cal. Rules Ct. 8.520(b)(2).

² Unless otherwise noted, all statutory citations are to the California Government Code.

ALPRs are high-speed cameras, mounted on police vehicles or attached to fixed objects like light poles, that automatically and indiscriminately scan and record the license plate number and the time, date and precise location of every passing vehicle, along with an image of the vehicle and its immediate surroundings. Only a tiny fraction of these scans—one in five hundred according to one study—shows any link to vehicle registration issues or criminal activity.³ But because ALPRs can capture data on thousands of plates in a single shift, and because agencies store that data for years, police can use ALPRs to build massive databases of the past locations of law-abiding residents. The ALPR systems of the two agencies in this case alone capture data on about three million vehicles in Los Angeles every week and likely contain well over half a billion plate scans—including data on where each car was at the exact time and date its plate was scanned.⁴

In the courts below, Real Parties in Interest argued, and the Court of Appeal held, that because the data were collected in part for the purpose of locating stolen and wanted vehicles, every single data point constituted a

³ Typically, only about 0.2% of plate scans are connected to suspected crimes or vehicle registration issues. ACLU, *You Are Being Tracked: How License Plate Readers Are Being Used to Record Americans' Movements*, pp. 13-15 (July 2013) <https://www.aclu.org/technology-and-liberty/you-are-being-tracked-how-license-plate-readers-are-being-used-record> (all web pages cited were last visited Oct. 22, 2015).

⁴ See Slip Op. at 4 (respondents collect data on approximately 3 million license plates per week); Jon Campbell, *License Plate Recognition Logs Our Lives Long Before We Sin*, LA Weekly (June 21, 2012) <http://www.laweekly.com/2012-06-21/news/license-plate-recognition-tracks-los-angeles> (respondents held data on more than 160 million license plate scans in June 2012).

“record[] of . . . investigation[]” and was therefore permanently exempt from disclosure under § 6254(f)—including data on the 99.8% of scans of drivers unconnected even to a registration issue.

In interpreting § 6254(f) to shield from public view this entire class of records, the lower court improperly expanded the scope of the investigatory records exemption far beyond prior precedent as established by this Court in *Williams v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 337 and *Haynie v. Superior Court* (2001) 26 Cal. 4th 1061, and so stretched the meaning of “investigation” as to force the absurd result that all cars in Los Angeles are constantly under police investigation.

In so doing, the lower court also ignored the recently enacted constitutional directive of Proposition 59: to “broadly construe[]” the Public Records Act to the extent “it furthers the people’s right of access” and to “narrowly construe[]” it to the extent “it limits the right of access.” Cal. Const. Art. I, § 3 (b)(2); *accord Sierra Club v. Super. Ct.* (2013) 57 Cal. 4th 157, 166 (applying Art. I, § 3 (b)(2) to require narrow interpretation of the PRA’s exemption for computer software); *Sander v. State Bar of Cal.* (2013) 58 Cal. 4th 300, 313 (same as to state bar rules). California voters passed Proposition 59 by an overwhelming margin in 2004. But the Court of Appeal failed to recognize this change in interpretive rule when it cited to cases predating the amendment for the proposition that the exemption for law enforcement records is a broad one, and in fact failed to cite the constitutional rule of narrow construction a single time. *See Slip Op.* at 6 n.3.

Both Real Parties and the court below also failed to recognize the fundamental differences between the mass surveillance capabilities of ALPRs and traditional human policing and instead mechanically applied

old case law addressing targeted investigations by human officers to ALPR technology. The Court of Appeal’s opinion rests on the presumption that there is no difference between an officer manually checking a single license plate and high-tech surveillance equipment automatically cataloging the locations of millions of vehicles in Los Angeles every week. *See* Slip Op. at 11 (noting “the ALPR system replicates, albeit on a vastly larger scale, [an officer] visually reading a license plate and entering the plate number into a computer The fact that the ALPR system automates this process does not make it any less an investigation”). This is out of step with courts and commentators that have recognized that legal rules and definitions developed in a pen-and-paper era cannot blindly be applied to new technology capable of collecting data on a mass scale. *See, e.g., United States v. Jones* (2012) 132 S.Ct. 945, 955 (Sotomayor, J., concurring); *id.* at 958 (Alito, J., concurring) (distinguishing GPS monitoring of a car’s location 24 hours per day for 28 days from one officer following one vehicle on public streets); *Riley v. California* (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2490 (distinguishing the search incident to arrest of small physical items from the search of a cell phone); *United States v. Graham* (4th Cir. 2015) 796 F.3d 332, 353 (distinguishing seven months of detailed cell phone location information obtained from a cell phone provider from three days of landline dialing information shared with a phone company).

As Professor Orin Kerr has noted, “[a]s technology advances, legal rules designed for one state of technology begin to take on unintended consequences.” Orin Kerr, *Applying the Fourth Amendment to the Internet* (2010) 62 Stan. L.Rev. 1005, 1009. The mechanical application of old case law governing what constitutes an “investigation” under § 6254(f) to ALPR technology yields an extraordinary result unintended by the Legislature.

Even if one officer manually checking a license plate would be performing an “investigation” within the meaning of § 6254(f), the Legislature did not expressly intend the exemption for records of law enforcement investigations to extend to records generated from the automated and suspicionless logging of the license plates of millions of law-abiding Los Angeles drivers. But such express legislative authorization is required for public records to be exempt from disclosure. *Sierra Club v. Super. Ct.* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, 166 (given “strong public policy” and “constitutional mandate” favoring disclosure, “all public records are subject to disclosure unless the Legislature has expressly provided to the contrary” (quotation and citations omitted)).

Under the broad application of § 6254(f)’s investigatory records exemption sought by Real Parties, law enforcement agencies could withhold from public review virtually unlimited amounts of information gathered on innocent Californians merely by claiming it was collected for an investigative purpose. This would remove an important and necessary check on law enforcement action and a mechanism to hold police accountable to the public. It cannot be what the Legislature intended when it drafted § 6254(f) in 1968, nor what the voters intended when they added government transparency as a fundamental right to the state constitution in 2004.

The Public Records Act allows public scrutiny of agency records so that the people of California can engage in free and informed debate on questionable government policies and conduct. Recent events clearly demonstrate the value of public access to records about the workings of government; over the summer, Congress passed historic legislation restricting the government’s powers of surveillance by ending the National

Security Agency’s bulk collection of telephony metadata.⁵ Only when the facts of this and other secret NSA programs became known could the public and legislators fully debate and ultimately reshape government policy. So, too, here: Petitioners seek access to public records so that the legal and policy implications of the government’s use of ALPRs to collect vast amounts of information on almost exclusively law-abiding Angelenos may be fully and fairly debated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Nature of Automated License Plate Readers⁶

ALPRs are computer-controlled camera systems—generally mounted on police cars or fixed objects such as light poles or freeway overpasses—that automatically capture an image of every license plate that comes into view. Slip Op. at 3. ALPRs detect when a license plate enters the camera’s field of view, capture an image of the car and its surroundings (including the plate), and convert the image of the license plate into alphanumeric data—in effect “reading” the plate.⁷ *Id.* ALPRs record data

⁵ See USA FREEDOM Act of 2015, Pub.L. No. 114-23 (June 2, 2015), __ Stat. __; Jennifer Steinhauer & Jonathan Weisman, *U.S. Surveillance in Place Since 9/11 Is Sharply Limited*, N.Y. Times (June 2, 2015) <http://www.nytimes.com/2015/06/03/us/politics/senate-surveillance-bill-passes-hurdle-but-showdown-looms.html>.

⁶ The Court of Appeal’s opinion correctly sets forth the facts of the case. Slip Op. at 3-5.

⁷ Real Parties have consistently agreed with Petitioners that ALPRs conduct “untargeted” scans that “automatically and indiscriminately” collect data “on each and every driver in Los Angeles who passes within range of their cameras . . . whether or not those drivers are suspected of wrongdoing.” City Opp. to Pet. for Writ. of Mandate at 7 (citing Pet. for Writ of Mandate at 29); see also *id.* (noting that “it is correct that the ALPR scans are not specifically targeted at persons suspected of criminal activity”); see generally *id.* at 7–9 (describing how ALPRs function); Exs. to Pet. for Writ

on each plate they scan, including not only the plate number but also the precise time, date and location it was scanned. *Id.* at 2, 4.⁸ The images captured by the systems can also reveal the vehicle’s occupants and their immediate surroundings.⁹ This collection is indiscriminate: an officer turns the vehicle-mounted ALPR on at the start of the shift, and the devices scan plates continuously until the officer turns off the ALPR at the end of the shift.¹⁰ Fixed ALPRs have a continuous connection to the ALPR server and are never turned off.¹¹

Police use ALPR data in two ways. First, ALPR systems can compare scanned license plates against a “hot list” of plates associated with suspected crimes or warrants and alert officers when any match or “hit” in the database occurs so they can take enforcement action. *Id.* at 3. Second, police accumulate and store ALPR data for use in future investigations. *Id.* at 4.

of Mandate (hereinafter “EP”) Vol. II, Ex. 9 (Gomez Decl.) at 410; EP Vol. I, Ex. 2 (Tr. of August 21, 2014 Hearing on Pet. for Writ of Mandate) at 35 (ALPR camera is on all the time); EP Vol. II, Ex. 9 (City Trial Ct. Br.) at 405 (“As Petitioners are well aware, ALPR devices ‘automatically’ and ‘indiscriminately’ scan the license plates of all vehicles within range.”).

⁸ Mobile ALPRs encode data with GPS coordinates. See LASD ALPR training, EP Vol. II, Ex. 8-B (LASD ALPR Training) at 256.

⁹ See LASD ALPR training, EP Vol. II, Ex. 8-B at 256 (ALPR provides “overview photograph”), 282-83 (sample data with photos); Ali Winston, *License Plate Readers Tracking Cars*, SF Gate (June 25, 2013) <http://www.sfgate.com/bayarea/article/License-plate-readers-tracking-cars-4622476.php> (license plate image clearly showed man and his daughters stepping out of vehicle in their driveway).

¹⁰ See LAPD ALPR Instructions, EP Vol. II, Ex. 8-C at 299, 301.

¹¹ See EP, Vol. II, Ex. 11-B (LASD Field Operations Directive) at 434—37.

By scanning every license plate that comes into view—scans of up to 14,000 cars during a single shift—ALPRs collect an enormous volume of data.¹² LAPD estimates it records plate scan data for approximately 1.2 million cars per week and retains that data for five years. LASD estimates it records between 1.7 and 1.8 million plate scans per week and currently retains data for at least two years, although it would prefer to retain the data indefinitely. *Id.* Based on these figures, the agencies have likely collected more than 400 million plate scans just in the three years since Petitioners filed their requests and likely have well over half a billion records of driver locations in their databases—an average of more than 65 plate scans for each vehicle registered in Los Angeles County.¹³ LAPD and LASD also share data with each other and with other agencies, so that, for example, LASD can query license plate data from 26 other police agencies in Los Angeles County and is working to expand its reach to Riverside and San Bernardino Counties.¹⁴

Because each ALPR scan records the specific location of a vehicle at an exact moment in time, LAPD and LASD's ALPRs allow them to collect

¹² See EP Vol. II, Ex. 8-B (LASD ALPR training) at 256.

¹³ According to the DMV, 7,719,360 vehicles were registered in Los Angeles County in 2014. Dept. of Motor Vehicles, *Estimated Vehicles Registered by County for the Period of January 1 Through December 31, 2014*, https://www.dmv.ca.gov/portal/wcm/connect/add5eb07-c676-40b4-98b5-8011b059260a/est_fees_pd_by_county.pdf.

¹⁴ EP Vol. II, Ex. 8 at 231 (Sgt. Gaw Letter); Ex. 8 (LASD ALPR training) at 272-74; see also David J. Roberts & Meghann Casanova, *Automated License Plate Recognition Systems: Policy and Operational Guidance For Law Enforcement*, Intn'l Assoc. of Chiefs of Police, 19, 21 (Sept. 2012) http://www.theiacp.org/Portals/0/pdfs/IACP_ALPR_Policy_Operational_Guidance.pdf; ACLU, *supra* note 3, at 19, 22.

a vast amount of data on the location history of Los Angeles drivers that officers can query for years into the future. Because license plate readers capture plate scans “regardless of whether the car or its driver is linked to criminal activity,” Slip Op. at 11, the agencies are compiling this data on overwhelmingly law-abiding residents.¹⁵ This detailed history, can not only reveal where a driver was on a given date and time in the past, but may also be used to project where a driver may be in the future.¹⁶ LASD has said it has “no written guidelines as to how to use the data.”¹⁷

II. Petitioners’ Public Records Requests and this Action

To understand and educate the public on the risks to privacy posed by ALPRs in Los Angeles, Petitioners sought documents related to LAPD and LASD’s ALPR use, including one week’s worth of ALPR data

¹⁵ See *You Are Being Tracked*, supra note 3, at 13-15 (noting only about 0.2% of plate scans are connected to suspected crimes or vehicle registration issues).

¹⁶ State of New Jersey, *Attorney General Guidelines for the Use of Automated License Plate Readers (ALPRs) and Stored ALPR Data* (Effective January 18, 2011) <http://www.state.nj.us/lps/dcj/agguide/directives/Dir-2010-5-LicensePlateReaders1-120310.pdf> (“‘Crime trend analysis’ refers to the analytical process by which stored ALPR data is used, . . . to predict when and where future crimes may occur[.]”); Steve Connor, *Surveillance UK: Why this Revolution Is Only the Start*, *The Independent* (April 1, 2009) <http://www.independent.co.uk/news/science/surveillance-uk-why-this-revolution-is-only-the-start-520396.html> (“We can use ANPR . . . looking forward in a proactive, intelligence way. Things like building up the lifestyle of criminals—where they are going to be at certain times.”).

¹⁷ EP, Vol. II, Ex. 11-C (ALPR System – Dept. Policies & Guidelines) at 441.

collected between August 12 and August 19, 2012.¹⁸

Both LAPD and LASD withheld the single week of ALPR data on various grounds, including that the data were exempt from disclosure under the PRA's exemption for law enforcement investigatory files and records, § 6254(f), and under the catch-all exemption, § 6255(a).¹⁹ On May 6, 2013, Petitioners filed a petition for writ of mandate with Respondent Superior Court seeking to enforce the requests. The Superior Court held a hearing on the petition and, in a written opinion issued on August 27, 2014, agreed with the City and County's positions and upheld their decisions to withhold the records under both § 6254(f) and § 6255(a). Petitioners petitioned the Court of Appeal for a writ of mandate.

III. Court of Appeal Opinion

The Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's decision, holding that the automated scanning of plates by ALPR systems constitutes a law enforcement "investigation" and that the data collected by ALPR systems—the data sought by Petitioners—were exempt as "records of . . . investigations" under § 6254(f). Slip Op. at 10. The court reasoned that because the agencies use ALPR data in part to check against "hot lists" of wanted vehicles associated with some kind of criminal activity, the license plate scanning constitutes an "investigation" of the "hot list" crimes. *Id.* ("Real Parties have deployed the ALPR system to assist in law enforcement

¹⁸ Petitioners also sought documents on policies, practices, procedures, training, and instructions related to ALPRs. Those records are not at issue in this Court's review.

¹⁹ Because the Court of Appeal's opinion is based solely on the investigatory records exemption under § 6254(f), no other exemption claims are before this Court on review.

investigations involving an identified automobile's license plate number. It follows that the records the ALPR system generates in the course of attempting to detect and locate these automobiles are records of those investigations.”).

In reaching its holding, the Court of Appeal recognized that ALPRs collect data automatically and indiscriminately—that an “ALPR system scans every license plate within view, regardless of whether the car or its driver is linked to criminal activity.” Slip Op. at 11 (quotations omitted); *see also id.* at 3 (ALPRs “automatically capture an image of every passing vehicle’s license plate in their immediate vicinity”); *id.* at 12 (“[t]he ALPR system necessarily scans every car in view”). But the court rejected Petitioners’ argument that such indiscriminate and untargeted scanning, could not constitute an investigation. The court emphasized that data collected through these scans were being used in investigations of specific crimes reflected in the “hot lists,” *id.* at 11, reasoning that the law enforcement investigations exemption “does not distinguish between investigations to determine if a crime has been or is about to be committed and those that are undertaken once criminal conduct is apparent.” *Id.* at 11-12 (quoting *Haynie*, 26 Cal. 4th at 1070).

The court also rejected Petitioners’ argument that the mass scale of data collection through ALPRs and the prolonged retention of data made ALPR data fundamentally different from records of traffic stops or other investigations that have been held exempt under the PRA. The volume of data collected, the court reasoned, did not change the character of the act of collecting it. *See* Slip Op. at 11 (“[T]he ALPR system replicates, albeit on a vastly larger scale, a type of investigation that officers routinely perform manually by visually reading a license plate and entering the plate number

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