JAN 27 2016

S227106

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC
8.25(b)

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION FOUNDATION OF
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA and ELECTRONIC FRONTIER
FOUNDATION,

Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, and the
LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and the
CITY OF LOS ANGELES, and the LOS ANGELES POLICE
DEPARTMENT,

Real Parties in Interest.

After A Decision by The Court Of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Three (No. B259392)
Los Angeles County Superior Court (No. BS143004)
Hon. James C. Chalfont, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Limiting the section 6254(f) exemption only to records of investigations where the likelihood of enforcement has ripened into something concrete and definite would expose to the public the very sensitive investigative stages of determining whether a crime has been committed or who has committed it.

(*Haynie, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at 1070.)

Haynie's holding applies with equal force to the facts before this Court. Just as the deputies in *Haynie* were "determining whether a crime has been committed or who has committed it" when they stopped Haynie, deputies using ALPR units are performing an investigation to locate persons suspected of committing vehicle-related crimes. The plate scans

that are generated while they do this are no different than a deputy examining a nearby vehicle to determine whether it meets the description of any vehicles of interest, nor is the subsequent check against a hot list any different than what that same deputy would do to verify whether the vehicle he is examining is in fact a vehicle of interest. These are basic, fundamental investigatory steps to “determine whether a crime has been committed or who has committed it.” Records generated for the purpose of performing them are “records of investigations.”

The ACLU argues that the term “investigation” is limited to “targeted inquiries,” however there is nothing in the text of the statute that suggests the Legislature intended public agencies or courts to engage in a case-by-case evaluation to determine whether a particular investigation qualifies for the exemption. This Court rejected the same argument on precisely the same grounds in *Williams*. There, a newspaper company sought to apply criteria from the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) to limit the exemption for records of investigation to investigations that “directly pertain to specific, concrete and definite investigations of possible violations of the criminal law.” (*Williams, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at 353.) Reasoning that the suggested judicial gloss “would require the exemption’s applicability to be determined on a case-by-case basis,” the *Williams* court noted that the California Legislature had expressly rejected that approach:

The California Legislature limited the CPRA's exemption for law enforcement investigatory files a few years after Congress limited the analogous exemption in the FOIA. However, the Legislature took a different approach than Congress. Instead of adopting criteria that would require the exemption's applicability to be determined on a case-by-case basis, the Legislature, as already mentioned, adopted a series of amendments that required the disclosure of *information derived from the records* while, in most cases, preserving the exemption for the records themselves.

(*Id.* at 353, *emphasis in original.*) This Court concluded:

These provisions for mandatory disclosure from law enforcement investigatory files represent the Legislature's judgment, set out in exceptionally careful detail, about what items of information should be disclosed and to whom. Unless that judgment runs afoul of the Constitution, it is not our province to declare that the required disclosures are inadequate or that the statutory exemption from disclosure is too broad. Nor is it our province to say that the approach

the Legislature chose is inferior to that which Congress chose, or to substitute one approach for the other.

Requests for broader disclosure must be directed to the Legislature.

(*Id.* at 361.)

The ACLU's argument that the quantity of data in question somehow changes this analysis fares no better. It is a truism that "[g]overnment files hold huge collections of information," and both the Legislature and the courts have long recognized that, in the context of the CPRA, government files "can roughly be divided into two categories: (1) records detailing public business and official processes; and (2) records containing private revelations." (*CBS, Inc. v. Block* (1982) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651.) The facts before this Court are thus well within the considerations weighed by the Legislature when it enacted the 1976 and 1982 amendments providing for the disclosure of specific information while maintaining the exemption for the records themselves. (See Stats. 1976, ch. 314, §1, pp. 629-631; Stats. 1982, ch. 83, §1, pp. 242-243.) Section 6254 has been amended numerous times since then, adding additional exemptions up through subdivision (ad). There is nothing to suggest that the Legislature is displeased with the current language of section 6254(f) as it has been consistently applied by the courts of this state in reliance on long-established precedent issued by this Court.

B. Non-Disclosure of the Information Contained in Plate Scans Is Consistent with the Public Policies Underlying the CPRA.

Disclosure of public records involves two fundamental competing concerns, which must be harmonized to realize the Legislature's intent: "In enacting this chapter, the Legislature, mindful of the right of individuals to privacy, finds and declares that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state." (Govt. §6250.) This Court has long recognized that the CPRA embraces "two fundamental and frequently competing societal concerns that result from the commingling of public and personal information." (*CBS, Inc.*, *supra*, 42 Cal.3d at 651.)

In the spirit of this declaration, judicial decisions interpreting the Act seek to balance the public right to access to information, the government's need, or lack of need, to preserve confidentiality, and the individual's right to privacy.

(*ACLU v. Deukmejian* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 440, 447.) The language of section 6254(f) confirms that the Legislature expressly addressed these competing interests when it crafted the current scheme for exceptions to the exemption from disclosure.

As amended in 1976 and 1982, section 6254(f) provides for the release of specific types of information to victims of crimes, insurance

companies and claimants, as well as the release of information regarding arrests, arrestees, complaints and requests for assistance. (Govt. §6254(f), (f)(1), (f)(2).) However, the release of all such information is limited to the extent that “disclosure would endanger the safety” of a person involved in the investigation. (*Ibid.*)

This Court has repeatedly recognized that concern for the lives of private citizens whose information is contained in law enforcement records trumps the public’s right to disclosure. (*ACLU, supra*, 32 Cal.3d at 449-450 [no disclosure of information that would connect private individuals to organized crime interests].) In *ACLU*, this Court refused to order the disclosure of exempt records containing “personal identifiers...[n]ot only names, aliases, addresses, and telephone numbers...but also information which might lead the knowledgeable or inquisitive to infer the identity of the individual in question.” (*Id.* at 450.) The same concern applies to the disclosure of plate scans.

As acknowledged by Petitioners, the Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that location data can reveal “a wealth of detail about familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations.” (*United States v. Jones* (2012) 132 S.Ct. 945, 955; see Opening Brief, p. 37.) While Petitioners’ Fourth Amendment arguments in this regard are misplaced because publicly available data does not implicate Fourth Amendment rights, it is a simple fact that, “[t]aken in the aggregate, ALPR data can

create a revealing history of a person's movements, associations, and habits." (Opening Brief, p. 37.)

This concern for the privacy interests of private citizens confirms that not even the information contained in plate scans should be subject to disclosure. As an initial matter, there is no specific exception for the disclosure of information contained in plate scans to members of the public. If anyone would be entitled to disclosure of the *information*, it would be limited to victims, insurance companies and claimants. (Govt. §6254(f).) The only other exceptions for information subject to disclosure – arrests and arrestees, and complaints and requests for assistance – do not apply here. (Govt. §6254(f)(1), (f)(2).)

Even were that not the case, disclosure of plate scan data without question constitutes "information which might lead the knowledgeable or inquisitive to infer the identity of the individual in question." (*ACLU, supra*, 32 Cal.3d at 450.) This is a grave concern for at least two reasons. First, there are numerous reverse license plate lookup services readily found by a simple Google search.⁷ Thus, it is not speculative to conclude that disclosure of plate scan data will enable other members of the public to identify private individuals. Second, plate scans are generated during the

⁷ The search "license plate reverse lookup" returns 230,000 results, with five separate websites listed on the first page of results offering the service: www.docusearch.com; www.numberplateseek.com; govdmvregistry.com; www.einvestigator.com; www.reverselicenseplatelookup.com. Westlaw and LexisNexis contain similar features.

“very sensitive investigative stages of determining whether a crime has been committed or who has committed it.” (*Haynie, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at 1070.) These concerns echo those addressed in *ACLU v. Deukmejian*, where the Court refused to turn over data that might disclose private citizens’ connections to organized crime elements. (*ACLU, supra*, 32 Cal.3d 440.)

ACLU addressed the concern arising from disclosure of private citizens’ associations with criminal elements, but the concerns present here are no less compelling. As acknowledged by Petitioners, the compilation of otherwise publicly available information regarding location data raises concerns that the individual in question “really does have a right to be secure from people who might be trying to stalk them or follow them or interfere with them.” (Opening Brief, p. 39, quoting Chris Francescani, *License to Spy*, Medium (Dec. 1, 2014)⁸.) These concerns are exacerbated by public disclosure of the information, and as such applying an extra-textual exception to the exemption from disclosure directly contradicts express legislative intent to withhold disclosure of information where it would “endanger the safety of a person involved in the investigation.” (Govt. §6254(f).)

In contrast, these concerns are vastly reduced where ALPR data remain exempt from disclosure. Plate scan data collected from ALPR units

⁸ <https://medium.com/backchannel/the-drive-to-spy-80c4f85b4335>.

are transmitted to an ALPR server within the County and City's confidential computer systems. Plate scan information is retained for two years by the County and five years by the City. (Opn., p. 4.) Access to plate scan data is restricted to approved law enforcement personnel within the agencies and within other law enforcement agencies with which the agencies share data. Access to plate scan data is for law enforcement purposes only. Any other use of plate scan data is strictly forbidden and subject to criminal penalties. (*Id.*) If plate scan data are subject to public disclosure, none of these protections will be afforded to private citizens.

II.

THE LEGISLATURE ALREADY HAS ENACTED LEGISLATION TO ADDRESS PETITIONERS' CONCERNS

Petitioners' argument that disclosure of plate scans or the data contained within them is necessary "so that the legal and policy implications of the government's use of ALPRs" can be "fully and fairly debated" ignores specific efforts the Legislature has taken to prevent abuses of ALPR technology. In October 2015, Governor Brown signed Senate Bill 34, Chapter 532 into law, which enacts Title 1.81.23 of the Civil Code ("Collection of License Plate Information") as set forth at Civil Code section 1798.90.5 et seq. Its express legislative purpose is to regulate the use of ALPR technologies as follows:

- ALPR operators (i.e., the County) and ALPR end-users (i.e., deputies) are required to maintain reasonable security procedures and practices to protect ALPR information and implement a usage and privacy policy with respect to that information. (Civil §§ 1798.90.51, 1798.90.53.)
- ALPR operators are required to maintain a specified record of access for each inquiry made that reflects the time and date of access, the license plate number or other data elements used to query the ALPR system, the username of the person accessing the information, and the purpose for accessing the information. (Civil §1798.90.52.)
- Any person harmed by a violation of the title may bring a civil suit for damages, including actual damages, liquidated damages, reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and such other preliminary and equitable relief as a court may determine to be appropriate. (Civil §1798.90.54.)
- An ALPR operator must provide an opportunity for public comment at a regularly scheduled public meeting of the governing body of the public agency before implementing an ALPR program. (Civil §1798.90.55.)

Finally, and most significantly for purposes of this case, section 1798.90.55(b) provides that a public agency “shall not sell, share, or transfer ALPR information, except to another public agency, and only as otherwise permitted by law.” Referencing Vehicle Code section 2413 (governing ALPR use by the California Highway Patrol), the Legislature further notes that existing law prohibits “making the data available to an agency that is not a law enforcement agency or an individual that is not a law enforcement officer.” (2015 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 532 (S.B. 34), October 6, 2015.) In crafting these protections for private citizens, the Legislature plainly contemplated the possibility of simply disclosing ALPR data via the CPRA and expressly rejected it in view of the privacy considerations at issue and existing statutory schemes addressing CHP’s use of ALPR technology.

This is further corroborated by analysis performed by the Assembly Committee on Privacy and Consumer Protection, which expressly found that SB 34 requires that “data collected through the use or operation of an ALPR system be treated as personal information for purposes of existing data breach notification laws applying to agencies, persons, or businesses that conduct business in California and own or license computerized data including personal information.” (California Bill Analysis, Assembly Committee, 2015-2016 Regular Session, S.B. 34 Assem., July 7, 2015.)

If there are any remaining questions about the Legislature's intent, the short title of SB 34 more than answers them in favor of the County's position: "Personal Information – Automated License Plate Recognition Systems – Use of Data." There is no question that the California Legislature expressly intends that ALPR operators and ALPR end-users withhold ALPR data as personal information exempt from disclosure to the public.

Civil Code section 1798.90.5 et seq. addresses the concerns presented by Petitioners without compromising the privacy concerns of private citizens. Rather than deem ALPR data "public records" and thus force the Legislature and citizenry to choose between privacy concerns and more effective law enforcement of vehicle-related crimes, the Legislature has chosen to provide a private enforcement mechanism that will deter abuses of ALPR technology on a case-by-case basis. It is significant that the Legislature also has seen fit to provide the courts with the discretion to award reasonable attorney's fees and litigation costs, which removes concerns that the new law will fail to deter abuses due to the costs of enforcement. (Cf. 42 U.S.C. §1988; *Perdue v. Kenny A. ex rel. Winn* (2010) 559 U.S. 542, 550 [prevailing party attorney's fee provision helps ensure that civil rights are adequately enforced].)

III.

ARTICLE I, SECTION 3(b)(2) DOES NOT CHANGE THE EXEMPT STATUS OF RECORDS OF INVESTIGATION

While this court has discretion to consider issues not raised below, “as a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b); *Jimenez v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 473, 481.) Petitioners take the Court of Appeal to task for its failure to address the implications of Article I, section 3(b)(2) of the California Constitution, but Petitioners failed to raise the issue below. As a result, it was neither briefed by the parties nor addressed by the Court of Appeal. However, even if Petitioners had raised the issue below, it does not affect the outcome.

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